IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

266 27 177

Case No. 91,065

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOHNNY TITUS,

F:\USERS\APPEALS\BARBRA\BRIEFS\1997\TTTUS.FSC

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERIT3

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, **Florida**

CELIA TERENZIO Bureau Chief Florida Bar No.: 0656879

BARBRA AMRON WEISBERG

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 29580 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, STATE OF FLORIDA, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellee in the district court and will be referred to herein as "Petitioner" or "State." Respondent, Johnny Titus, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court and will be referred to herein as "Respondent" or "Defendant."

The following symbols will be used:

- R = Record on appeal
- T = Transcripts
- A = Appendix

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant was charged by information with possession of cocaine and use or possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. 1 - 2). Appellant filed a motion to suppress and a hearing thereon was held on September 10, 1996. (R. 11 - 12, T. 1 - 64).

At the suppression hearing, Officer Rodney Nieves testified that on March 16, 1996, he came in contact with Appellant at a rooming house on North Ninth Street. (T. 6). Nieves had been to that rooming house approximately 10 to 20 times prior to the date in question. (T. 7). On March 16, 1996, Nieves was patrolling the area when a bystander flagged him down and told him that someone was smoking narcotics in that rooming house. (T. 7 - 8). The flagging down of police officers was a common practice in that area. (T. 8). He then stopped his vehicle and went inside the rooming house. (T. 7).

The rooming house had a series of individual rooms, which were leased by separate occupants. (T. 8). Each individual room had its own padlock. (T. 9). On the date in question, Nieves entered through the rear entrance of the rooming house, which did not have **a** door. (T. 12). As he entered through the rear entrance, he was able to see right out the front entrance, which again did not have a door. (T. 13). He walked up the back-porch stairs and entered

F:\USER\$\APPEAL\$\BARBRA\BRIEF\$\1997\TTTUS F\$C

the rooming house. (T. 14). The first room immediately to his right was the kitchen. (T. 14). He saw a woman, Respondent's codefendant, sitting with her back towards him, and he also saw Respondent standing by the stairs. (T. 15). Once inside, there was no doorway or wall obstructing the view of the kitchen. (T. 16). He saw the woman with a crack pipe in her mouth and saw Respondent place a pipe in his pocket and proceed to leave the kitchen area. (T. 17). On the table was a small film jar which contained fifteen cocaine rocks. (T. 17). A search of Respondent revealed the pipe he had placed in his pocket moments earlier. (T. 18).

Respondent called his co-defendant, Ruth Ann Hudson, to the stand. She testified that, on the day she and Respondent were arrested, she was not a tenant of the rooming house, but rather was visiting. (T. 24). The kitchen area was used by tenants only. (T. 25). But, on the date in question, there were four or five people in the kitchen that were not residents or guests. (T. 25). They just came in off of the street. (T. 26). She also testified that there was a door on the front entrance, as well as the rear entrance. (T. 32).

Respondent testified that one officer entered through the rear, and one through the front. (T. 37). The rooms inside the building were for the tenants and their guests. (T. 37).

FAUSERSAPPEALSABARBRABRIEFSAISSATITUS FSC

In denying the motion to suppress, the trial court made the

following findings:

One, that the defendant, Johnny Titus, was a tenant, or lessee in the rooming house; two, that the defendant, Ruth Ann Hudson, was an invited guest in the rooming house; three, that both of them had reasonable expectations of privacy in the rooms in the rooming house that were utilized for the sole and exclusive use of the lessee for that particular room.

I find that as to the kitchen area, that that was accessible from both the front door, and the back door to not only tenants, or their invited guests, but to persons who were neither tenants, nor invited guests.

I find that there **was** no security on the doors, as testified to by the officer, and as I believe, corroborated by at least one of the witnesses, one of the defendants.

I find that Ms. Hudson -- I recall that Ms. Hudson testified that there were persons in the kitchen, who were neither invited guests, nor tenants, and find that's further evidence that the rooming -- the kitchen was accessible to persons.

I think if that statement was to be clarified it needed to be clarified by the defense, because from the prosecution's standpoint, there's no reason to clarify, it said what it said.

I find, therefore, that the officers in this instance, as any other member of the public in the area, apparently could have come into the home -- or come into the rooming house into the common **areas**.

Based upon that finding, the officer then -- I find the officer saw in plain view the usage of the drugs by Ms. Hudson, and the paraphernalia in the possession of Mr. Titus.

I'm basing this ruling substantially on the case of the State of Florida versus Baptiste [sic], 524 So. 2d 481, and as that case has been read two or three different ways, I may read it a fourth way.

I read the case as saying that a resident may have a reasonable expectation of privacy in common areas, such as hallways, spaces, of a locked, or otherwise secured apartment building. The case, after sort of saying maybe this Court disagrees with that, but saying they don't worry about it for purposes of that case, the Baptiste [sic] case, cites a number of cases to say that no resident of the unlocked, and unsecured premises in apartment building in the present case, could have had a reasonable expectation of privacy in those shared areas.

In this case, I think that's squarely on point, in that the area was not locked, and it was unlocked, and unsecured, and, therefore, the residents, and then if the residents had no expectation, the invited guests certainly didn't have an expectation in that area.

I read the part about Garcia running with a gun, and at that point, they were actually getting into an apartment. If in this case, they had gone into one of the rooms with the locks on it, as was described, that would have been a different situation. They did not, and so therefore, the motion of each of the defendants to suppress is denied.

(T. 60 **-** 62).

USERS APPEALS BARBRA BRIEFS 1997 TTTUS FS

Defendant filed an appeal in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, challenging the judge's denial of his motion to suppress. The Fourth District held that there is no rooming-house exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, allowing police officers to enter and search a kitchen in such a residence. (A. 1).¹ In support of its position, the district court cited to United States Supreme Court cases, as well as cases from other circuits, including, but not limited, to <u>McDonald v. United States</u>, 335 U.S. 451 (1948), and <u>United States v. Carriser</u>, 541 F. 2d 545 (6th Cir. 1976). The court found that the privacy of residential premises does not arise from the nature of the security device employed to keep unwanted intruders out. The Fourth District acknowledged conflict with the Third District's decision in <u>State v. Batista</u>, 524 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), in which the court found that "no resident of the unlocked and unsecured premises and apartment building in the present case could have had such a reasonable expectation in those shared areas.*

Upon the State's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Review, this Court issued its order postponing decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule. The State's brief on the merits follows.

4.

¹ The State points out that this was not the precise issue raised by Respondent in the district court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in reversing the order denying suppression and the following conviction. The **trier**of-fact properly found that the evidence presented showed that Respondent did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the kitchen area where he was arrested for possession of cocaine and drug paraphernalia.

r. 1,

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY REWEIGHED AND MISAPPLIED THE FACTS AND ERRONEOUSLY ANALYZED FOURTH AMENDMENT LAW WHEN IT FOUND THAT RESPONDENT HAD A REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN THE COMMON AREA OF A ROOMING HOUSE THAT WAS UNSECURED FROM USE BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC.

On a motion to suppress, the trial court's duty, as the factfinder, is to weigh the credibility of the witnesses, and to resolve conflicts in the evidence. E.g., <u>Wuornos</u> v. State, 676 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1995). Such factual findings arrive in the appellate court cloaked with a presumption of correctness, and said court must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining a trial court's ruling. Owen v. State, 560 So. 2d 207, 211 (Fla.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 855. In practice, this means that appellate courts are bound by even the trial court's *implicit* factual findings, unless clearly erroneous. Johnson v. State, 640 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Setzler, 667 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). Thus, where the record supports the trial court's findings of fact, the appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the fact-finder. Wasko v. State, 505 so. 2d 1314, 1316 (Fla. 1987); Emanuel v. State, 601 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Moreover, an appellate court must give great deference

١,

to a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress. <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 438 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984);

Given that standard of review, and the record in this case, the State submits that the district court not only impermissibly reweighed the facts and made factual findings unsupported by the record, but it also erroneously applied the law to those facts.

This Court should accept jurisdiction to review the conflict created by the Fourth District Court of Appeal regarding an individual's expectation of privacy in the common areas of a rooming house unsecured from the public at large. As this question will arise in other cases, the conflict needs to be resolved.

In the case at bar, the trial judge found that the Respondent did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the kitchen area of a rooming house where he was arrested for possession of narcotics. The trial judge based his ruling on <u>State v Batista</u>, 524 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), wherein, the court held that, although a person may have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the common areas of a locked or secured apartment building, a resident of an mocked or <u>unsecured</u> apartment building cannot have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the shared areas. Id. at 482. Thus, the central concept linking this case to <u>Batista</u> is

٠

that the rooming house in question was not only unlocked and unsecured, but it had no doors at all. And thus Respondent had no expectation of privacy while commingling with four or five strangers off of the street.

On appeal, the Fourth District acknowledged the holding of Batista as it applied to an apartment building but seemed to distinguish between an apartment and a rooming house: "[T]he decision does seem to stand for the proposition that in an apartment building a tenant's expectation of privacy in the common areas turns on how secure the entrance to the building is. Of course, today's case involves a rooming house rather than an apartment building." <u>Titus v. State</u>: 22 Fla. L. Weekly 131645, 1648 (Fla. 4th DCA July 2, 1997). The State submits that this distinction is one without difference. In both circumstances, there are individual, secured rooms and areas common to the residents. Thus, the law should not allow the police to enter an unlocked or unsecured apartment building without a warrant, but not an unlocked or unsecured rooming house.

More importantly, the district court rejected <u>Batista</u> based on an erroneous analysis of Fourth Amendment law. Presuming as a matter of course that any lawful resident or guest has an expectation of privacy in all areas of a rooming house, the court

F/\USERs\APPEALs\BARBRA\BRIEFS\1997/TITUS.FSC

rejected the analysis set forth in <u>Batista</u> concerning unlocked or unsecured doors. Instead, it held that the police have no right to enter a rooming house without a warrant or an applicable exception to the warrant requirement. The district court's analysis, however, was based on **a** faulty premise and was unsupported by the law.

The district court framed the issue **as** follows: "Although not so framed by the parties, the real issue in this **case** is whether there is a rooming house exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution for police officers to enter and search a kitchen in such a residence." <u>Titus</u> at 1645. The State did not frame the issue as such because it was not seeking to create a new exception to the warrant requirement. Rather, the State believes that, before a warrant is required, the subject of the **search** must **have** an expectation of privacy in the area to be searched. Thus, this issue, which escaped analysis by the Fourth District, **must** be resolved before any application of a warrant **exception**.² As the trial court held, and **as** the State submits, Respondent had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the

² Importantly, it is the defendant's burden to prove such an expectation of **privacy.** <u>See Rakas v. Illinois</u>, 439 U.S. 128 (1978); <u>United States v. Sard-Villa</u>, 760 F. 2d 1232 (11th Cir. 1985).

kitchen area of the rooming house, which was unsecured from the population at large. To the extent the district court found otherwise, its decision was in error.

The determination of whether a party has a reasonable expectation of privacy does not turn solely on whether outsiders have the ability and authority to enter the premises, but whether the area in question is under the person's control and whether others have the ability to utilize the area.³ See United States v. Roberts, 747 F. 2d 537, 542 (9th Cir. 1984) (holding that defendant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in a private road because he had no control over the five other people who lived on the area and who used the road); United States v. Eisler, 567 F. 2d 814 (8th Cir. 1977) (holding that defendant did not have reasonable expectation of privacy in the common hallways of his apartment building where hallways were available for use by other residents and their guests); Rakas at 149 (holding that expectation of privacy will be violated only if place is one that defendant has a right to keep private and subject to his exclusive control). Herein, Respondent did not have control over the kitchen area. Any of the other residents or their guests could utilize the area.

³Such an analysis renders moot Judge Farmer's argument that there was a fence surrounding the rooming house.

Moreover, people off of the street wandered in at will. Finally, the owner of the rooming house could have given the police consent to search the common areas. <u>See United States v. Elliot</u>, 50 F. 3d 180 (2d Cir. 1995); United States v. Kelly, 551 F. 2d 760 (8th Cir. 1977); <u>United States v. Kellerman</u>, 431 F. 2d 319 (2d Cir. 1970). Consequently, Respondent did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the kitchen.

The majority of other circuits have consistently held that a tenant of an apartment building or a rooming house does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the common areas. For example, in <u>United</u> States v. Anderson, 533 F. 2d 1210 (C.A.D.C. 1976), the court held that respondent did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy when the police entered the rooming house because they did not enter the defendant's private dwelling. Rather, they merely entered the common corridors, which were available to residents of the rooming house, their guests, people making deliveries, and others. Anderson's protected privacy interest began at the door to his room rather than at the door to the entire rooming house. See also United States v. Cruz Pasan, 537 F. 2d 554, 558 (1st Cir. 1976) (holding that defendant did not have reasonable expectation of privacy in parking garage of condominium where garage was common area and was well-traveled);

United States v. Holland, 755 F. 2d 253 (2d Cir. 1985) (holding that common hallways of an apartment building do not afford a person a reasonable expectation of privacy); United States v. Acosta, 965 F. 2d 1248 (3d Cir. 1992) (holding that defendants do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the hallways of an apartment building where the door was not locked and defendant had no way of excluding anyone from entering the hallways); United States v. Concepcion, 942 F. 2d 1170, 1172 (7th Cir. 1991) (holding that defendant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in common areas of apartment building); United States v. Luschen, 614 F. 2d 1164 (8th Cir. 1980) (holding that defendant did not have reasonable expectation of privacy in hallways and common areas of apartment building); United States v. Nohara, 3 F. 3d 1239 (9th Cir. 1993) (holding that a tenant does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in an apartment building hallway or other common area). Contra Brvant v. United States, 599 A. 2d 1107 (C.A.D.C. 1991) (holding that defendant demonstrated a reasonable expectation of privacy in the common areas of a rooming house).

Florida and federal courts have held that the issue of a reasonable expectation of privacy turns on two requirements: "[T]he subjective expectation of privacy and most importantly whether the expectation is one that society is prepared to recognize as

F:\USERS\APPEALS\BARBRA\BRIEFS\(997\TTTUS.FSC

reasonable." <u>Cleveland v. State</u>, 557 So. 2d 959 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>see also Katz v. United States</u>, 389 U.S. 347, 360 (1967); <u>United States v. McBean</u>, 861 F. 2d 1570 (11th Cir. 1988). Since there was no testimony from the Respondent regarding his expectation of privacy, he failed to prove the first prong. <u>See</u> <u>Rakas</u> at 134. Even if he had testified to an expectation of privacy in the kitchen, such an expectation is unreasonable under the circumstances of this case. There were no doors on either entrance, and there were people in the kitchen who were just off the street.⁴

The cases relied on by the Fourth District Court of Appeal to reject <u>Batista</u> are readily distinguishable. In <u>MacDonald v United</u> <u>States</u>, 335 U.S. 451 (1948), a police officer forcibly entered a window in the landlady's bedroom in a boarding house, unlocked the front door to let other officers in, searched the rooms on the first floor, and then proceeded to the second floor where he stood on a chair in the hallway and peered into the transom into the defendant's room where he saw gambling paraphernalia. The facts in MacDonald are far beyond the facts of this case where there were no

⁴The district court rejected the trial court's reliance on this fact, but Hudson's testimony was uncontroverted. The district court had no authority to reweigh the evidence. <u>Wasko v. State</u>, 505 So. 2d 1314, 1316 (Fla. 1987).

doors on the residence and Respondent was in a common area. No forced entry was needed.

Similarly, in <u>United States v. Carriaer</u>, 541 F. 2d 545 (6th Cir. 1976), the police officer used artifice to enter an apartment building by holding a **locked** door open after some workmen left the premises. In other words, the officer used deceptive means to gain entry into a building which was otherwise **unaccessible**. Here on the other hand, the common areas were freely accessible, as there were no doors, much less a locked door.

The remaining cases cited by the district court are not on point as they involve entry into a private, single-family residences, as opposed to a boarding house or apartment building. Furthermore, none of the residences had doorless entryways, **as was** involved herein.

The case at bar involves a common area in a rooming house, which is transiently used by both tenants and outsiders off of the street. Thus, the State contends that the owner/resident of such a rooming house has no reasonable expectation of privacy in the common areas. This is especially true herein because there was no door, much less a lock, on the front or back entrances. As a result thereof, people who did not reside there, and who were not invited, frequently utilized the kitchen. The district court erred

F:\USERS\APPEALS\BARBRA\BRIEFS\1997\TTTUS.FSC

in rejecting **Batista** and reversing the trial court's order denying suppression and the conviction that followed. This Court should accept jurisdiction to review the conflict created by the Fourth District, as it erroneously analyzed the concept of expectation of privacy in the common areas of an unsecured rooming house.

. .

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and authorities cited herein, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the Fourth **DCA's** holding in <u>Titus v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1645 (Fla. 4th DCA July 2, 1997) and reinstate the order denying Respondent's motion to suppress, as well as his conviction.