FILED

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SEP 17 1997

By *BAR*

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 91,065

JOHNNY TITUS,

Respondent.

---

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY

Public Defender

15th Judicial Circuit

LOUIS G. CARRES ✓

Assistant Public Defender

Attorney for Johnny Titus

Criminal Justice Building

421 Third Street, 6th Floor

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(407) 355-7600

Florida Bar No. 114460

**

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant in the trial court. He was the appellant in the District Court of Appeal, and he will be referred to by name and as respondent in this brief.

The record on appeal is not consecutively numbered. References to the record proper, the pleadings and orders will be by the symbol "R-" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

References to the transcript of testimony will be by the symbol "Tr-" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The opinion of the District Court of Appeal set forth the facts, issues and law which the Petitioner seeks to have reviewed. The history and facts of the case are properly found therein.

Conflict was certified only to the extent of possible conflict. The Court below noted differences in the stated facts, though sparse, of the cited case and the facts of the decision below.

A timely notice of review was filed by the Petitioner, but jurisdiction based upon express and direct conflict is disputed by Respondent as explained below.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The District Court of Appeal set forth the facts in the decision below, which should be the basis upon which the Court determines the issue of jurisdiction and upon which any ruling on the merits, if the Court determines a real and direct conflict to exist, is made.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The entry into the private dwelling house by a policeman looking for evidence of a crime should not depend upon the security of the doors, windows or locks to the structure. The entry by the officer in this case was neither consensual nor was it supported by probable cause or legal authority in the form of a warrant.

Entrance was made into a “rooming house” where multiple separate private residential quarters are contained and a view obtained into a shared common area within the interior of the dwelling house. This view was neither open nor authorized. The officer could not enter and roam the hallways of this dwelling building any more than an officer could enter into and roam the hallways of a large mansion where several separate persons or families may be occupying rooms or suites.

Such entry is neither authorized by the cases nor is there conflict on this question. The decision referred to by the court below as possibly being in conflict does not involve the interior of a dwelling structure. The decision upon which conflict jurisdiction was posed concerned entry by officers onto an exterior common access area of a multiple apartment complex. These are essential and material differences. An outside area surrounding, and among, an apartment complex or condominium structure is not a shared dwelling area.

The interior of the private residential structure in this case was a private shared dwelling area used by the tenants but not a public open area. These differences defeat any conflict jurisdiction to review the decision. The Court should dismiss petition for review.

On the merits, the decision below is consistent with the protection afforded by the constitution as explained in the cases that have interpreted the privacy protections of the Fourth

Amendment The Court, if it ultimately reviews the issue on the merits, should agree that the intrusion into the private living areas of this rooming house, without consent or warrant, is inconsistent with a reasonable search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment, The decisions, contained in the decision below, and cited below, apply the same privacy protections of the Fourth Amendment to a poor person's residential area even though not secured by locks and grand barriers. The privacy interests of the residents of this rooming house does not depend upon the state of repair of the doors or locks, it depends upon the privacy concerns the constitution places in dwelling areas, and the common use by the residents of several of those areas within does not equate the shared kitchen or hallways with open areas surrounding an apartment complex. The decision below should be approved on the merits as consistent with prior decisions interpreting Fourth Amendment protections.



## ARGUMENT.

### **JURISDICTION**

The Court lacks jurisdiction to review the decision below because the conflict is non-existent due to material differences in the facts of this case and State v. Batista, 524 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the case upon which the certification of possible conflict was based. Batista concerned entry by officers onto the outside common access areas to an apartment complex, not the interior residential areas of a shared dwelling house.

The present **case** involves interior common areas designated for use by the occupants of the residential structure for routine living activities within the dwelling. These shared activities included use of a kitchen and the hallways necessary for the occupants to traverse between their individual bedrooms and the shared kitchen area.

These factual differences distinguish the two decisions thus express and direct conflict of decision does not exist.

This Court has jurisdiction under Article V, section 3, Fla. Const., only where differing rules of law are applied to the same or materially similar facts, Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell, 113 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1959); Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981).

The conflict that the court below stated might exist evaporates when decisions are examined for identity of material facts. The decision in Batista concerned egress upon the common areas of an apartment complex. There were no facts in Batista to infer that the officers traversed into commonly shared residential interior areas in that case.

The decision below involved the entry into a private residential building. The fact that individual private living areas were intermixed with mutually shared areas within the dwelling house

does not alter the character of the dwelling house as reserved for the residents within the building and where they each retained a reasonable expectation of the type of privacy normally accorded to residential areas,

There is no direct or express conflict due to these factual differences. The Court lacks jurisdiction to review the decision below on the basis of express and direct conflict, whether certified or not. There was no certification of an issue as being of great public importance. Thus, no jurisdictional basis exists on the basis of conflict of decisions for the Court to grant the Petitioner a second review in this case. The Court should dismiss the petition for review.

### **THE MERITS**

The decision below sets forth the pertinent facts, and based upon those facts the entry by an officer to seek evidence of reported criminal activity within the residential area of the dwelling house must be disapproved because the officer was neither armed with a judicially approved warrant nor acting with consent to enter by someone authorized to give consent.

The officer entered to seek evidence of drug usage, reported by an informant of unknown reliability. The residential building was one where drug usage had previously been known to take place. This knowledge of prior drug usage within the structure cannot supplant the necessity for a lawful authority to enter. If a dwelling could be entered by an officer based upon such suspicion, the privacy protections of the Fourth Amendment accorded to dwellings would be obviated by bare suspicion when the persons lacked sufficient locks and barriers to keep the police from gaining entry. It is not locks and barriers that the Fourth Amendment recognizes, Rather it is the character of the structure as a dwelling that distinguishes a private from a public place.

The Court has previously recognized that it is not the security of the structure that vests a

private dwelling place with the protection of the Fourth Amendment. It is the nature of the structure as a dwelling that serves to distinguish public from private places where expectations of privacy exist to prevent unconsented entry by police officers seeking evidence of suspected criminal activity. Benefield v. State, 160 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1964), and Dickens v. State, 58 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 1952), both quoted by the court below in its decision. As Benefield noted, the poorest backwoods cabin may enjoy, through constitutional proclamation, the same protection as the most securely locked and highly protected residence. The nature of its use as a private residential dwelling distinguishes the interior of this building from a public area such as the common outside walkways of a multiple unit complex. The interior of the residential area, even though shared by tenants or residents, does not deprecate this protection as the court below held, relying upon the decision of the Courts in United States v. Carriger, 541 F. 2d 545 (6th Cir. 1976), and McDonald v. United States, 335 U. S. 451 (1948), as well as relying upon decisions of this Court cited above.

The facts in this case show that the officer could observe the incriminating pipe only from a position within the residence after he was standing in the hallway used by the tenants to go from their individual bedrooms to the kitchen area that was shared by them. This is no different from the use of a common living room area or a shared bath, neither of which would be public merely because they may be jointly shared between multiple tenants within a residential structure, The officer could no more wander along the **hallways** of this residential multifamily house than he could sit down in the kitchen or living room at will without consent. The hallways are within the common living area and not outside public access areas.

This is the crucial distinction between the decision below and the decision of the court in State v. Batista, supra, where the open common access areas were held not to be part of the private

dwelling areas of the multi-unit apartment complex in that case, There is not a common factual base upon which to apply the holding from Batista to these facts even if the Court were to find that the decisions have sufficient tension between them to justify the Court in exercise its conflict jurisdiction.

The decision below, well reasoned and supported by accepted authorities, is correct in its protection of the poor among us in their private residential areas from the roaming of police officers along the interior hallways of their private residences. Merely because the residents lack total privacy within the dwelling to each have a private kitchen, and hallways within the dwelling are necessary to traverse between their bedroom and their kitchen does not defeat the essential nature of the interior hallways or kitchen as part of their private dwelling.

The Court, if it reaches the merits, should approve the decision below on its facts just as Batista should be approved as applied to its particular facts. Neither decision is erroneous, or in conflict, and the Court should either dismiss the invocation of its jurisdiction or rule that the decision below is correct on its merits.

**CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, the Court should approve the decision below or dismiss due to lack of jurisdiction,